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Product Picketing: The Secondary Boycott
Provisions of the NLRA and the Tree Fruits

and Dow Cases

I. INTRODUCTION

Product picketing is more easily recognized than described or
defined. Generally, it is picketing by primary employees' at the
business site of a secondary employer2 which appeals to consumers
to refrain from buying items produced by the primary employer. If
consumers honor the pickets' appeal not to buy the struck product,
the secondary employer's demand for the primary's products will
decrease. This decreased demand is the effect desired by the picket-
ing employees because as the primary employer's sales to the sec-
ondary employer decrease, the primary is pressured to end his dis-
pute with the picketing employees.

Thus, it is obvious that product picketing can be an extremely
effective tool for a union to use in pressuring a primary employer
to meet union demands. If product picketing is conducted ille-
gally, however, it constitutes a secondary boycott.3 This fact carries
with it two important implications. The first is that a secondary
boycott is an unfair labor practice under section 8(b)(4)(B) of the
National Labor Relations Act (NLRA),4 and as such, it can be

1. A primary employer is one with whom a union has a dispute and who has the power
to settle the labor dispute.

2. A secondary employer is one who is essentially neutral in the labor dispute. He does
not have the power to settle the original dispute with the union. In product picketing cases,
the secondary employer is typically a retailer who sells the primary employer's products to
consumers.

3. As the term is used in this paper, a secondary boycott is any activity prohibited by
section 8(b)(4)(B) of the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA). The term "secondary boy-
cott," however, has become a term of art in labor law. The most famous definition is that
proposed by Frankfurter and Greene: "a combination to influence A by exerting some sort of
economic or social pressure against persons who deal with A." F. FRANKFURTER & N. GREENE,

THE LABOR INJUNcTiON 43 (1930). This definition, while certainly descriptive of the type of
activity prohibited by the common law, does not adequately describe the statutory prohibi-
tion in section 8(b)(4)(B). The focus of this paper is upon current federal law, and the
definition offered above is more useful in understanding the problems discussed herein.

4. 29 U.S.C. § 158(b)(4) (1970). The statute provides:
(b) It shall be an unfair labor practice for a labor organization or its

agents-. .
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enjoined5 or it can be the object of a cease and desist order of the

National Labor Relations Board (NLRB).6 In addition, anyone
whose business or property is injured by a secondary boycott can sue

the boycotting union for money damages in a federal district court

or, in some cases, in a state court.7 Thus, either a primary or a

secondary employer injured by illegal product picketing can be

awarded a judgment against a union for economic losses incurred
during a secondary boycott.'

Although product picketing is a significant labor activity, the
law pertaining to it is by no means settled. The statute which pro-
hibits secondary boycotts has been interpreted to permit product
picketing in many cases. The cases which have interpreted section
8(b)(4)(B) as not prohibiting product picketing under some condi-
tions have not always expressed lucid reasons for doing so. As a
result, unions contemplating the use of product picketing have been
left with little guidance in determining how to do so lawfully. The

(4)(i) to engage in, or to induce or encourage any individual employed by any
person engaged in commerce or in an industry affecting commerce to engage in, a
strike or a refusal in the course of his employment to use, manufacture, process,
transport, or otherwise handle or work on any goods, articles, materials, or commod-
ities, or to perform any services; or (ii) to threaten, coerce, or restrain any person
engaged in commerce or in an industry affecting commerce, where in either case
an object thereof is-...

(B) forcing or requiring any person to cease using, selling, handling, trans-
porting, or otherwise dealing in the products of any producer, processor, or manu-
facturer, or to cease doing business with any other person, or forcing or requiring
any other employer to recognize or bargain with a labor organization as the repre-
sentative of his employees unless such labor organization has been certified as the
representative of such employees under the provisions of section 159 of this title:
Provided, That nothing contained in this clause (B) shall be construed to make
unlawful, where not otherwise unlawful, any primary strike or primary picketing;

Provided further, That for the purposes of this paragraph (4) only, nothing con-
tained in such paragraph shall be construed to prohibit publicity, other than picket-
ing, for the purpose of truthfully advising the public, including consumers and
members of a labor organization, that a product or products are produced by an
employer with whom the labor organization has a primary dispute and are distrib-
uted by another employer as long as such publicity does not have an effect of
inducing any individual employed by any person other than the primary employer
in the course of his employment to refuse to pick up, deliver, or transport any goods,
or not to perform any services, at the establishment of the employer engaged in such
distribution . . ..

5. 29 U.S.C. § 160(1) (1970).
6. See, e.g., Laundry Workers Local 259, 164 N.L.R.B. 426 (1967).
7. 29 U.S.C. § 187(b) (1970).
8. See, e.g., Roywood Corp. v. Radio Technicians Local 1264, 290 F. Supp. 1008 (S.D.

Ala. 1968).
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same problem confronts courts which are faced with deciding the
legality of product picketing.'

A. Section 8(b)(4)(B): The Secondary Boycott Provision

Section 8(b)(4)(B) ° provides a two-pronged, means-object, test
for gauging the legality of secondary activity." The means prohib-
ited by the statute include the inducing or encouraging of secondary
employees to stop work" and the threatening, coercing, or restrain-
ing of anyone engaged in commerce.' 3 The statute condemns the
objects of forcing of any person to cease handling products of an-
other person, forcing any person to cease doing business with any
other person, and forcing any employer to recognize or bargain with
a non-certified union. 4 An important, feature of the means-object
test in section 8(b)(4)(B) is the requirement that both prongs of the
test be satisfied to constitute a violation of the statute. That is, to
have violated section 8(b)(4)(B), a union engaged in secondary ac-
tivity must have used prohibited means for the purpose of accom-
plishing a prohibited object. There are, however, two important
statutory qualifications on the means-object test. First, section
8(b)(4)(B) expressly states that primary strikes or picketing are not

9. See THE DEVELOPING LABOR LAW (C. Morris ed. 1971) [hereinafter cited as Morris]
for an excellent, in-depth history and analysis of the law relative to secondary boycott.

10. See statute quoted at note 4 supra.
11. This means-object test is the classic formula by which the Board and the courts

have measured the legality of secondary activity by a union. Carpenters Local 1976 v. NLRB,
357 U.S. 93 (1958); NLRB v. Building Trades Council, 341 U.S. 675 (1951). For discussion of
the means-object test, see Morris, supra note 9, at 618; Engel, Secondary Consumer Picket-
ing-Following the Struck Product, 52 VA. L. REV. 189, 194 n.10 (1966) [hereinafter cited as
Engel]; Comment, Secondary Consumer Picketing-The Product Boycott, 19 Sw. L.J. 567,
582 n.61 (1965).

Some labor law scholars have offered alternatives to the means-object test. See, e.g.,
Engel at 213; Lesnick, The Gravamen of the Secondary Boycott, 62 COLUM. L. REV. 1363
(1962). It is suggested, however, that the NLRB and the courts have used the means-object
test correctly and that the test provides a workable, flexible, and reasonably efficient gauge
for measuring the legality of union activity. It is often stated that the twin objectives of
section 8(b)(4)(B) are: (1) preserving the union's right to pressure the primary employer by
cutting off his markets and (2) preserving the neutral secondary employer's right to avoid
economic injury and remain neutral. See, e.g., Woodwork Mfrs. Ass'n v. NLRB, 386 U.S. 612,
626-27 (1967); NLRB v. Building Trades Council, 341 U.S. 675, 692 (1951); Typographical
Union Local 37 v. NLRB, 401 F.2d 952, 956 (D.C. Cir. 1968); Duerr, Developing a Standard
for Secondary Consumer Picketing, 26 LAB. L.J. 585 (1975). Both of these are laudable objec-
tives, and if the means-object test is used judiciously, it is as good a vehicle as any for striking
the proper balance between them.

12. 29 U.S.C. § 158(b)(4)(i) (1970).
13. 29 U.S.C. § 158(b)(4)(ii) (1970).
14. 29 U.S.C. § 158(b)(4)(B) (1970).
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prohibited by the terms of that section.' Second, the section does
not prohibit publicity, other than picketing, for the purpose of ad-
vising the public of a labor dispute." This qualification-the public-
ity proviso-enables a union to use any means, other than picketing
(for example, handbilling), to effect a total boycott of the secondary
employer.7

To the two statutory qualifications of the means-object test
must be added two qualifications developed by the NLRB and the
courts. If two business entities are found to be "allies" or a "single
employer" and there is a labor dispute at one business, the union
can picket the other business to the same extent that it could picket
the first.'" An employer becomes an "ally" of a primary employer
by handling work normally performed by the primary's striking
employees. 9 Two businesses may be found to be a "single employer"
if they are closely related and are commonly owned and controlled.'"

The qualifications on the means-object test discussed above
can affect the legality of product picketing.2' Normally, however,
the legality of product picketing is tested by reference to section
8(b)(4)(B) itself and to cases applying that section to product pick-
eting.

B. The Tree Fruits Case

The 1964 Supreme Court decision of NLRB v. Fruit Packers
Local 760 (Tree Fruits)" held that section 8(b)(4)(B) of the NLRA
did not prohibit all product picketing.23 That decision is the only
Supreme Court case interpreting the present version of section

15. This proviso is contained in clause (B). See note 4 supra.
16. 29 U.S.C. § 158(b)(4) (1970). See note 4 supra.
17. Typographical Union Local 37, 167 N.L.R.B. 1030 (1967), enforced, 401 F.2d 952

(D.C. Cir. 1968); Television Artists Local 55, 150 N.L.R.B. 467 (1964).
Before 1964 the Board construed the publicity proviso as evidencing Congress' intent to

prohibit product picketing. Fruit Packers Local 760, 132 N.L.R.B. 1172, 1177 (1961). In 1964,
however, the Supreme Court specifically disapproved of the Board's construction and held
that the publicity proviso indicated nothing more than the constitutional doubts of the
drafters of the statute. NLRB v. Fruit Packers Local 760, 377 U.S. 58, 70 (1964).

18. Morris, supra note 9, at 636; Comment, Secondary Consumer Picketing- The Prod-
uct Boycott, 19 Sw. L.J. 567, 572 (1965).

19. Id.
20. See Engel, supra note 11, at 205 n.61, and authorities cited therein.
21. See, e.g., United States Maintenance Corp. v. Service Employees Local 82, 387 F.

Supp. 801 (D.D.C. 1974).
22. 377 U.S. 58 (1964).
23. Id. at 63.
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8(b)(4)(B) ' as it applies to product picketing, and thus it provides
a logical starting point for a discussion of product picketing. 5

In Tree Fruits the union had a dispute with fruit packers and
warehousemen selling Washington State apples. A strike was called
and the union posted pickets at 46 Safeway stores around Seattle,
Washington. The picketing union members made no overt attempt
to disrupt Safeway's business; they only appealed to consumers not
to buy Washington State apples. The union took elaborate precau-
tions to limit its appeal to consumers only and to ask them only to
refrain from buying the apples. 6 The NLRB held this activity to be
violative of section 8(b)(4).11 This holding was consistent with the
Board's position that product picketing was a per se violation of
section 8(b)(4)(ii)(B). 5 The United States Court of Appeals for the
District of Columbia reversed that ruling and remanded the case to
the Board. 9 When the case was appealed to the United States Su-
preme Court, that Court agreed that reversal of the Board's ruling
was warranted, but found that a remand was unnecessary." After
examining the legislative history of section 8(b)(4)(B), the Court
concluded that Congress had not expressed an intent to ban all
product picketing by that section.' In arriving at this conclusion,

24. Before 1961, the Board held that product picketing was a per se violation of section
8(b)(4). Laundry Drivers Local 928, 118 N.L.R.B. 1435 (1957), enforced, 262 F.2d 617 (9th
Cir. 1958), In 1959, however, the Landrum-Griffin Act drastically overhauled section 8(b)(4),
and in 1961 the Board modified its position by holding that a violation of section 8(b)(4)(i)(B)
would not be found if it could be shown that picketing was directed at consumers only. See
Morris, supra note 9, at 609-11; Engel, supra note 11, at 193 n.9, and authorities cited therein.
Until the Supreme Court decision in Tree Fruits, however, the Board continued to hold that
product picketing was a per se violation of section 8(b)(4)(ii)(B). See, e.g., Milk Drivers Local
680, 145 N.L.R.B. 165 (1963).

25. It is possible to trace the use of product picketing back much further. Common law
cases in some jurisdictions considered product picketing lawful while holding that picketing
which appealed to consumers to refrain from trading with the secondary employer generally
was tortious. See, e.g., Johnson v. Milk Drivers Local 854, 195 So. 791 (La. Ct. App. 1940);
Goldfinger v. Feintuch, 276 N.Y. 281, 11 N.E.2d 910 (1937).

26. The precautions included: (a) sending a letter to the managers of the Safeway stores
warning them of the union's plans to picket; (b) instructing the pickets to patrol only at
consumer entrances and to stay away from delivery entrances; (c) forbidding the pickets to
ask consumers to boycott the entire store; (d) limiting picketing to hours which ensured that
no work stoppage would occur; (e) refraining from interfering with ingress and egress at the
stores. As will be illustrated later, these precautions played a significant role in shaping the
outcome of later cases.

27. Fruit Packers Local 760, 132 N.L.R.B. 1172 (1961).
28. See note 24 supra.
29. Fruit Packers Local 760 v. NLRB, 380 F.2d 311 (D.C. Cir. 1962),
30. NLRB v. Fruit Packers Local 760, 377 U.S. 58 (1964).
31. Id. at 63.
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the Court balanced the twin goals of section 8(b)(4)(B)-to give
employees the right to cut off a primary employer's markets and to
protect neutral employers from economic injury-and decided that
"the consumer picketing carried on in this case is not attended by
the abuses at which the statute was directed. '32 Thus, the Court
held that, as a matter of law, product picketing as it was effected
in Tree Fruits did not "threaten, coerce or restrain" a neutral em-
ployer within the meaning of section 8(b)(4)(ii). 33 The opinion, how-
ever, provided few readily discernible guidelines for determining
when product picketing is legal and when it is not. 34 Cases decided
since Tree Fruits, however, suggest some considerations that make
this determination somewhat simpler.

II. PosT-Tree Fruits DEVELOPMENT OF PRODUCT PICKETING LAW

As Tree Fruits indicated, the legality of product picketing is
properly measured by the means-object test discussed earlier'15 Nei-
ther the use of improper means by the union nor an improper union
object alone constitutes a violation of section 8(b)(4)(B); both must
be present to constitute a violation.36 When the means and objects
of product picketing are legal and when they violate section
8(b)(4)(B) have been the focus of cases decided since Tree Fruits.

A. Means Prohibited by Sections 8(b)(4)(i) and (ii)

One means prohibited by section 8(b)(4) is inducing or encour-
aging a work stoppage by neutral employees. 7 A union engaged in
product picketing may not induce or encourage a work stoppage
without incurring the risk of a section 8(b)(4)(i)(B) violation. Even
if no actual work stoppage is caused by product picketing, a viola-
tion can still be found because the statute prohibits the inducement,

32. Id. at 64. See also Steelworkers Local 14055 v. NLRB, 524 F.2d 853 (D.C. Cir. 1975).
33. 377 U.S. at 71. See also Engel, supra note 11, at 196; Lewis, Consumer Picketing

and the Court-The Questionable Yield of Tree Fruits, 49 MINN. L. REV. 479, 483 (1965);
Comment, Secondary Consumer Picketing-The Product Boycott, 19 Sw. L.J. 567, 574
(1965).

34. Professor Engel laments this fact in his well-reasoned article. Engel, supra note 11,
at 197.

35. 377 U.S. at 59; accord, Nashville Trades Council, 188 N.L.R.B. 470 (1971); Bedding
Workers Local 140, 164 N.L.R.B. 271 (1967). See also Morris, supra note 9, at 618; Engel,
supra note 11, at 193-94; Comment, Secondary Consumer Picketing-The Product Boycott,
19 Sw. L.J. 567, 582 (1965). For further discussion, see note 11 supra.

36. See text accompanying notes 10-14 supra.
37. 29 U.S.C. § 158(b)(4)(i) (1970); Glaziers Local 513, 158 N.L.R.B. 1621 (1966).
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and it is not necessary that- the inducement be effective for a viola-
tion to result.3" Further, if a work stoppage is induced by product
picketing, combined with some other activity such as the threaten-
ing of neutral employees, a violation maybe found. 9

If a union engages in any activity (including product picketing)
that involves threatening, coercing, or restraining any person (in-
cluding any employer or employee)" engaged in commerce, it has
employed means prohibited by section 8(b)(4) (ii). Tree Fruits indi-
cated, however, that the standard to be applied in testing the legal-
ity of product picketing is not necessarily whether coercion in fact
occurs.4' Rather, some product picketing does nlot "threaten, coerce
or restrain any person" as a matter of law even though actual coer-
cion may have, resulted from the picketing."2

Because the Tree Fruits majority declined to provide absolute
rules for gauging the legality of product picketing, courts later con-
fronted by the same issue were forced to decide the issue on a case-
by-case basis. In that process, certain factors-became recognized as
indicating that the union used .means prohibited by the statute.

1. Requirement of an IdentifiabieStruck Product

If product picketing is to be nonviolative of section 8(b)(4)(B),
the primary employer must produce an identifiable product which
consumers can boycott.43 This "product requirement" does not

38. NLRB v. Glass Blowers Local 56, 280 F. Supp. 643 (D. Md. 1968); Morris, supra
note 9, at 614-15.

39. Milk Wagon Drivers Local 753, 163 N.L.R.B. 902 (1967).
40. This is true because the statute prohibits threatening, coercing, or restraining "any

person." 29 U.S.C. § 158(b)(4)(ii) (1970); Morris, supra note 9, at 611. This clause in the
statute, however, most often operates in actions initiated by employers.

41. The Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia suggested such a test in its
opinion in Tree Fruits. 308 F.2d' at 318. That test was expressly rejected by the Supreme
Court. 377 U.S. at 72.

42. See text accompanying notes 31-33 supra. Because the majority in Tree Fruits
discounted the importance of coercion in fact, one author concluded that this clause in the
statute, section 8(b)(4)(ii), was meaningless. Comment, Secondary Consumer Picket-
ing-The Product Boycott, 19 Sw. L.J. 567 (1965). This conclusion seems unfounded inas-
much as product picketing cases decided after Tree Fruits have focused upon the question-of
when the product picketing did not threaten, coerce, or'restrain, any person as a matter of
law.

43. Building Trades Council, 188 N.L.R.B. 470 (1971); Morris, supra note 9, at 602;
Comment, Secondary Consumer Picketing-The Product Boycott, 19 Sw. L.J. 567, 589
(1965).

It has been argued that Tree Fruits sanctioned "informational picketing." See Twin City
Carpenters District Council, 167 N.L.R.B. 1017 (1967), enforced, 422 F.2d 309 (1970); Glaziers
Local 558, 165 N.L.R.B. 182 (1967); Glaziers Local 513, 158 N.L.R.B. 1621 (1966). In these
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mandate that the primary employer be a manufacturer of the prod-
uct. The requirement is satisfied if the primary employer.merely
enhances the. value of a pr9duct sold by the secondary employer."
The product whose value.has been enhanced by the primary em-
ployer is then subjec.tjo product picketing at the site of the secon-
dary employer's, business...

The "enhanced value"' concept can be made clearer by an ex-
ample involving advertising-media. If a radio station is struck by its
employees' union, and-a retailer- Safeway, for instance-advertises
by radio a specific product-,eggs, for instance-the value of those
eggs is increased to the extent of the advertising expense." Under
the "enhanced value" theory, this increased value makes the eggs
the "product" of the radio.station,47 and the radio station employ-
ees' union may picket, Safewty to appeal to. consumers not to buy
the eggs."

2. Picket Signs Must Cle u-y Identify the Primary Employer and
His Product

Case law has also established that the picket signs carried dur-
ing product picketing mist clearly define the limits of the dispute

cases, the union picketed.the secondary employer With the pirpose of publicizing its dispute.
Typically, the union would use placards calling.thd primary employer "unfair" for some
stated reason, but not calling for a product boycott. Such picketing is not protected by the
Tree Fruits case, nor is it within the publicity proviso discussed in text accompanying notes
16-17 supra.

44. Typographical Union Local 37, 167 N.L.R.B. 1030 (1967), enforced, 401 F.2d 952
(D.C. Cir. 1968); Great W. Broadcasting. Corp. v.-NLRB, 356 F.2d 434 (9th Cir. 1966);
Typographical Union Local 21, 188 N.L.R.B. 673 (1971); Typographical Union Local 174, 181
N.L.R.B. 384 (1970).

45. Id. , -
46. Although consumers are unlikely to think in these terms, they are purchasing prod-

ucts (in the hypothetical, advertising from the radio station) of the primary employer
indirectly. Typographical Union Local 37 v. NLRB, 401 F.2d 952, 956 n.9 (D.C. Cir. 1968),
enforcing 167 N.L.R.B. 1030 (1967). -

47. This was the rationale use by the court in Great W. Broadcasting Corp. v. NLRB,
356 F.2d 434 (9th Cir. 1966). There -is a conceptual flaw in the court's analysis. Using the
hypothetical proposed above, it can be seen that the eggs have two distinct components: (1)
advertising, which concededly is the product of the primary employer, and (2) the eggs, which
are essentially neutral products. Allowing the union to appeal to consumers to persuade thein
not to buy the eggs permits the union to extend the primary dispute to the neutral component
of the eggs' value. The appeal will extend beyond the struck product (advertising) ahd into
neutral products (eggs). Allowing such an effect would seem to be inconsistent with the
prohibition in Tree Fruits against extending the appeal beyond the struck product. 377 U.S.
at 72. -

48. The right to picket in this manner is limited by the prohibition against appealing
for a total boycott of the secondary employer. See text accompanying notes 67-90 infra.
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with the secondary employer. The signs must identify the primary
employer," the struck product,'" and the action which consumers
are asked to take. 5'

Each sign, when read as a whole,52 must be reasonably specific
in identifying the struck product.53 The union has the burden of
taking steps to insure that the picketing does not affect the secon-
dary employer's business beyond the struck product." This burden
may not be shifted to the public; the picket signs themselves must
inform consumers of the extent of the dispute.55

3. Picketing Must Have a Reasonably Direct Impact on the
Primary Employer

Several post-Tree Fruits cases have required that product pick-
eting have a reasonably direct impact on the primary employer."
Although this requirement is somewhat vague, the cases suggest
that it forces a picketing union to take precautions: (a) to insure
that the struck product is on the secondary's premises at the time
picketing occurs, 7 (b) to avoid affecting the general business of the
secondary employer," and (c) to make certain that the primary
employer feels the pressure of the product picketing.59

49. Twin City Carpenters District Council, 167 N.L.R.B. 1017, 1026 (1967), enforced,
422 F.2d 309 (1970); Typographical Union Local 174, 181 N.L.R.B. 384, 388 (1970); Bedding
Workers Local 140, 164 N.L.R.B. 271, 273 (1967).

50. Typographical Union Local 21, 188 N.L.R.B. 673, 679 (1971); Typographical Union
Local 48, 180 N.L.R.B. 1014, 1016 (1970).

51. Typographical Union Local 21, 188 N.L.R.B. 673, 680 (1971); Typographical Union
Local 174, 181 N.L.R.B. 384, 388 (1970); Pipe Fitters Local 553, 154 N.L.R.B. 982, 983 n.1
(1965); Millmen Local 550, 153 N.L.R.B. 1285, 1286 n.1 (1965).

52. Teamsters Local 150, 151 N.L.R.B. 734, 739 (1965).
53. Bedding Workers Local 140, 164 N.L.R.B. 271 (1967). In this case, the legend

"Please Do Not Buy Nonunion Furniture" was found to be not specific enough to satisfy the
union's identification burden.

54. Typographical Union Local 48, 180 N.L.R.B. 1014 (1970).
55. Typographical Union Local 21, 188 N.L.R.B. 673 (1971); Typographical Union

Local 48, 180 N.L.R.B. 1014 (1970). In the first-cited case, the union appealed to consumers
not to purchase products advertised in the primary employer's newspaper. Although copies
of the advertisement were attached to the picket signs, they were difficult to read. The Board
held that the union had not discharged its identification burden. 188 N.L.R.B. at 680.

56. Twin City Carpenters District Council, 167 N.L.R.B. 1017, 1026 (1967), enforced,
422 F.2d 309 (8th Cir. 1970); Building Trades Council, 163 N.L.R.B. 33, 36 (1967), enforced,
388 F.2d 987 (9th Cir. 1968); NLRB v. Building Serv. Employees Local 105, 367 F.2d 227,
229 (10th Cir. 1966); Building Serv. Employees Local 254, 173 N.L.R.B. 280, 285 (1968);
Laundry Workers Local 259, 164 N.L.R.B. 426, 428 (1967).

57. Laundry Workers Local 259, 164 N.L.R.B. 426 (1967).
58. Building Serv. Employees Local 254, 173 N.L.R.B. 280 (1968).
59. NLRB v. Building Serv. Employees Local 105, 367 F.2d 227 (10th Cir. 1966). In this
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4. Store Managers Must Be Warned of Planned Product Picketing

One case"0 contains language indicating that a union engaging
in product picketing has the duty to warn the secondary employers
that product picketing will occur at their stores and to give assur-
ances that the picketing will be directed only at consumers." A
similar warning was given by the union in Tree Fruits,2 and this
requirement is consistent with the legitimate concern for minimiz-
ing the coercive effect of picketing on secondary employers.

5. Picketing May Not Create a Separate Dispute With the
Secondary Employer

This "no separate dispute" language was taken verbatim from
the Tree Fruits majority opinion. 3 It has been seized by the NLRB
and the courts and elevated to the status of a prerequisite to legal
means of product picketing.64 Thus far, separate disputes have been
found when unions (a) engaged in product picketing plus other di-
rect action against the secondary employer65 or (b) appealed to the
public for what would have been, in effect, a total boycott of the
secondary employer.6

6. Picketing Must Not Appeal for a Total Boycott of the Secondary
Employer's Business

The majority opinion in Tree Fruits also contained language
indicating that an appeal by a union asking consumers not to trade
at all with a secondary employer would be a means prohibited by
section 8(b)(4)(ii). 7 Cases since Tree Fruits have focused upon that

case, the union had not even approached the primary employer about the dispute.
60. San Francisco Labor Council, 191 N.L.R.B. 261 (1971).
61. Id. at 265-66.
62. 377 U.S. at 61.
63. Id. at 72.
64. Typographical Union Local 37, 167 N.L.R.B. 1030 (1967), enforced, 401 F.2d 952

(D.C. Cir. 1968); NLRB v. Twin City Carpenters Dist. Council, 422 F.2d 309 (8th Cir. 1970),
enforcing 167 N.L.R.B. 1017 (1967); Milk Wagon Drivers Local 753, 163 N.L.R.B. 902 (1967).

The vagueness of this requirement illustrates a problem mentioned earlier. The Tree
Fruits opinion is devoid of any easily applied guidelines. Consequently, the Board and courts
have seized upon phrases from the majority opinion, such as "no separate dispute" to support
a finding that certain conduct was proscribed.

65. Twin City Carpenters Dist. Council, 167 N.L.R.B. 1017 (1967), enforced, 422 F.2d
309 (8th Cir. 1970); Typographical Union Local 16, 151 N.L.R.B. 1666 (1965).

66. Typographical Union Local 37, 167 N.L.R.B. 1030 (1967), enforced, 401 F.2d 952
(D.C. Cir. 1968); Steelworkers Local 14055, 211 N.L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. 1381 (1974).

67. 377 U.S. at 72.
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language and have held that when a union's appeal is, in effect, an
appeal for consumers to cease trading with the secondary employer,
the appeal constitutes a means prohibited by section 8(b)(4)(ii).
These cases can be divided into three groups.

a. Mode of Picketing Is Defective

This first group of cases is the simplest to analyze. The cases
involve product picketing which, because of the manner in which it
was effected or the legend on the picket sign, called for a cessation
of business with the secondary employer." For example, the failure
to carry the identification burden discussed earlier can lead to this
result and render the picketing illegal."9

Another example of defective picketing may arise in the "en-
hanced value" advertising cases.70 In the hypothetical posed before,
it was noted that if Safeway advertised eggs over the radio, the eggs
would become the "product" of the radio station because the adver-
tising enhanced their value.7 Thus, the radio station employees'
union could picket Safeway and appeal to consumers not to buy the
eggs.72 A different result would obtain, however, if Safeway were to
advertise its store generally or to advertise "substantial savings in
all departments." In such a case, the union would be prohibited
from pressuring the radio station by product picketing at Safeway
which appealed to consumers not to buy products advertised over
the radio.73 Making this request would be, in effect, appealing to
consumers not to trade with Safeway at all because the advertise-
ment covered the entire stock of the store and not merely specific
products."4 The lesson for Safeway (and other retailers), if it wishes

68. Typographical Union Local 37 v. NLRB, 401 F.2d 952 (D.C. Cir. 1968), enforcing
167 N.L.R.B. 1030 (1967); Building Trades Council, 163 N.L.R.B. 33 (1967), enforced, 388
F.2d 987 (9th Cir. 1968); Building Trades Council, 188 N.L.R.B. 470 (1971); Typographical
Union Local 174, 181 N.L.R.B. 384 (1970); Bedding Workers Local 140, 164 N.L.R.B. 271
(1967).

69. Bedding Workers Local 140, 164 N.L.R.B. 271 (1967).
70. See notes 44-48 supra and accompanying text.
71. See authorities cited note 44 supra.
72. Id.
73. Typographical Union Local 37, 167 N.L.R.B. 1030 (1967), enforced, 401 F.2d 952

(D.C. Cir. 1968); Typographical Union Local 174, 181 N.L.R.B. 384 (1970).
74. Id. Member Jenkins of the NLRB has consistently dissented from this view. Typo-

graphical Union Local 174, 181 N.L.R.B. 384, 384-85 (1970); Typographical Union Local 37,
167 N.L.R.B. 1030, 1033-36 (1967). He reasons that because Safeway (using the hypothetical
in the text) advertised all of its products, the radio station became a "producer" of all the
products of Safeway. Thus, the union should have an absolute right to follow the products of
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to avoid picketing on its premises, is not to advertise specific prod-
ucts during a period of labor unrest at the radio station; institu-
tional advertising is safer."5

b. Integrated Products

Another group of cases has developed the rule that if a primary
employer's product has lost its separate identity to such an extent
that consumers cannot boycott the struck product without boycott-
ing the entire business of the secondary employer, product picket-
ing cannot be conducted." The leading case concerning this rule is
Teamsters Local 327 v. American Bread." There, the union picketed
restaurants which served bread produced by the primary employer.
The NLRB and the court of appeals agreed that the customers were
not in a position to choose which brand of bread they would receive
with their meals.78 The bread had been integrated into the meals
served by the restaurants so that customers could not refuse to buy
the bread without refusing to buy the entire product of the restau-
rants.79 Thus, the picketing was held to constitute means prohibited
by section 8(b)(4)(ii).80

The American Bread rule has become a rule of general applica-
bility.8' Its application, however, is not always effected without dif-

the primary employer and appeal to consumers to boycott those products. Id. Perhaps more
persuasively, Member Jenkins points out that the neutral employer who advertises through
a primary employer is in complete control of the advertising and should not be allowed to
thwart the union's right to conduct peaceful product picketing by varying the form the
advertising takes. Id.

75. This anomaly is discussed in Comment, Secondary Consumer Picketing: Some
Grafts on Tree Fruits, 44 TUL. L. REV. 537, 549-50 (1970).

76. Twin City Carpenters Dist. Council, 167 N.L.R.B. 1017 (1967), enforced, 422 F.2d
309 (8th Cir. 1970); Teamsters Local 327, 170 N.L.R.B. 91 (1968), enforced, 411 F.2d 147 (6th
Cir. 1969); Typographical Union Local 37, 167 N.L.R.B. 1030 (1967), enforced, 401 F.2d 952
(D.C. Cir. 1968); Duerr, Developing a Standard for Secondary Consumer Picketing, 26 LAB.
L.J. 585 (1975); Comment, Secondary Consumer Picketing: Some Grafts on Tree Fruits, 44
TUL. L. REV. 537, 542-47 (1970).

77. 170 N.L.R.B. 91 (1968), enforced, 411 F.2d 147 (6th Cir. 1969).
78. Id.
79. Id.
80. Id. Identifiability as a test for gauging the lawfulness of product picketing has been

criticized. See, e.g., Comment, Secondary Consumer Picketing: Some Grafts on Tree Fruits,
44 TUL. L. REV. 537, 546 (1970). The author of the cited work found it difficult to justify the
fact that employees of a tire manufacturer have a right which employees of a rubber manufac-
turer are denied. Id.

When the problem is viewed in light of the twin objectives of section 8(b) (4) (B), however,
the identifiability test seems proper because it strikes a reasonable balance between those
two competing objectives. See note 11 supra.

81. See authorities cited note 76 supra.
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ficulty. For example, a close question is presented when the struck
product has become integrated into one of many products offered
for sale by the secondary employer-retailer. To illustrate, assume
that the Teamsters have a dispute with Dunlop tire company and
that Ford Motor Company equips its heavy-duty Ranger III pickup
trucks with heavy-duty Dunlop tires. Assume further that all other
Ford vehicles are equipped with Firestone radials. If the Teamsters
were to conduct product picketing at the Ford dealers' premises
appealing to consumers not to buy Dunlop tires, they would be
asking, in effect, for a boycott of Ranger III pickups because the
Dunlops would be integrated into the Ranger III pickups. This hypo-
thetical case is distinguishable from American Bread, however, be-
cause an appeal to consumers to boycott Ranger Ills is not an appeal
for a boycott of all Ford products. If a case such as this hypothetical
one should arise, the Board should extend the American Bread rule
and hold the picketing to be prohibited by section 8(b)(4)(ii). When
the appeal of product picketing extends beyond the struck product
itself (as it would extend in the case posed to Ranger HIs), the
picketing is objectionable because it creates a separate dispute with
the secondary employer."2 When such is the case, the statute's pur-
poses are best accommodated by prohibiting the picketing. 3

c. Sales of the Struck Product Comprise the Bulk of
Secondary Employer's Business

The NLRB has ruled that if a secondary employer's business is
so dependent upon sales of the struck product that product picket-
ing would effectively cut off all or nearly all of his business, a union
may not conduct product picketing."4 The District of Columbia Cir-
cuit Court of Appeals specifically disagrees with this rule," but the
Board's rule controls in all other circuits. s6 The disagreement be-

82. See notes 63-66 supra and accompanying text.
83. The Tree Fruits opinion would support this approach. There, it is implied that

product picketing which extends beyond the struck product into non-struck products is pro-
hibited. 377 U.S. at 63-64, 72.

84. Steelworkers Local 14055, 211 N.L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. 1381 (1974). This rule
has particular significance for independently owned franchise operations. The cited case was
reversed by the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia. Steelworkers Local 14055 v.
NLRB, 524 F.2d 853 (D.C. Cir. 1975).

85. Steelworkers Local 14055 v. NLRB, 524 F.2d 853 (D.C. Cir. 1975).
86. This is true because the Board will not consider circuit court decisions binding upon

it except in the circuit where the decision was handed down. The only court decisions which
bind the Board generally are Supreme Court decisions. This explains why, even after the
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tween the Board and the District of Columbia Circuit stems from
conflicting interpretations of Tree Fruits.

In his dissenting opinion in Tree Fruits, Justice Harlan noted
an inadequacy he perceived in the majority's approach.17 He ques-
tioned whether a union would have the right to picket retail gasoline
service stations which sold the struck product, gasoline, exclusively,
and to appeal to consumers not to buy the struck gasoline.88 Ob-
viously, even if the picketing was perfectly lawful otherwise, it
would be, in effect, an appeal to stop all trade with the service
stations."

Steelworkers Local 14055 (Dow) 0 is Justice Harlan's hypotheti-
cal case come to life. Because it is one of the most important product
picketing cases to arise since Tree Fruits, it will later be the subject
of more analysis.

B. Objects Condemned by Section 8(b)(4)(B)

As noted earlier,9' to have violated section 8(b)(4)(B), a union
must have used prohibited means to accomplish a prohibited ob-
ject.2 Generally, it is safe to assume that when a union pickets a
secondary employer's establishment, at least one of its objects 3 is
to force the secondary employer to cease doing business with the

court of appeals' decision in Tree Fruits, the Board continued to hold product picketing to
be a per se violation of section 8(b)(4)(ii)(B). Milk Drivers Local 680, 145 N.L.R.B. 165 (1963).

87. 377 U.S. at 83 (Harlan, J., dissenting).
88. Id.
89. As discussed in the text accompanying notes 18-21 supra, such picketing would be

permissible if the service station was found to be an "ally" of the primary employer or if the
two were found to constitute a "single employer."

90. 211 N.L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. 1381 (1974), rev'd, 524 F.2d 853 (D.C. Cir. 1975).
91. See text accompanying notes 11-14 supra.
92. See note 11 supra. One commentator has interpreted the Board decision in Laundry

Workers Local 259, 164 N.L.R.B. 426 (1967), as indicating that the sole fact to be determined
in product picketing cases is the union's object in picketing. Comment, Secondary Consumer
Picketing: Some Grafts on Tree Fruits, 44 TUL. L. REV. 537, 553 (1970). That author's analysis
is unsatisfactory for two reasons. First, in Laundry Workers Local 259 the means used by the
union were clearly condemned by section 8(b)(4)(i). Thus, even if the Board's opinion could
be interpreted as the commentator suggests, the statement was mere dictum. Further, there
exists the very real possibility that the Board was focusing on what it believed to be the
controlling question in the case-the union's object. Second, and more important, the com-
mentator's interpretation is contrary to the letter of the statute and the test propounded by
the Supreme Court. See note 11 supra and authorities cited therein.

93. The prohibited object need not be the union's sole object. A violation of section
8(b)(4)(B) can be proved if the union uses improper means and one object of the union is
one of those prohibited by clause (B). NLRB v. Building Trades Council, 341 U.S. 675, 689
(1951).
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primary employer. 4 Theoretically at least, one can distinguish be-
tween an object to effect this cessation of business through a drop
in consumer demand for a struck product (which would be permissi-
ble) and an object to effect this cessation through use of a general
boycott of the secondary employer (which would be prohibited by
section 8(b)(4)(B))9 5 As a practical matter, however, the fact that
a union has used means condemned by section 8(b)(4)(ii) is strong
circumstantial evidence for the Board to use in concluding that the
union's object was improper. 6

The NLRB and the courts determine the propriety of a union's
object in picketing by examining the totality of the circumstances
surrounding the picketing. 7 What follows is simply a list of the
factors which have been used to support a finding that a union
which engaged in product picketing had a proscribed object.

(1) In one case, the union's past, unsuccessful attempts to
organize the primary employees were used as circumstantial evi-
dence of a prohibited object. 8

(2) A history of illegal secondary activity by the union has also
helped support a finding of an improper object.9

(3) The union's tacit ratification of secondary employees'
work stoppage was used to prove an improper object in one case.'00

(4) Picketing at a location not frequented by consumers indi-
cates an improper object.'1

94. Comment, Secondary Consumer Picketing: Some Grafts on Tree Fruits, 44 TUL. L.
REV. 537, 552 (1970).

95. Lewis, Consumer Picketing and the Court-The Questionable Yield of Tree Fruits,
49 MINN. L. REV. 479, 482-83 (1965); Comment, Secondary Consumer Picketing: Some Grafts
on Tree Fruits, 44 TuL. L. REV. 537, 552 (1970).

96. Although one might lament this bootstrapping approach to finding an improper
union object, the present author finds no fault with it. Labor law, above all else, should be
consistent with economic reality. The Board and the courts properly have avoided articula-
ting fine distinctions such as the one suggested in the text. To do so would only inject more
confusion into an area of the law which already has its fair share.

97. Roywood Corp. v. Radio Technicians Local 1264, 290 F. Supp. 1008 (S.D. Ala.
1968); Bedding Workers Local 140, 164 N.L.R.B. 271 (1967). See also Typographical Union
Local 37, 167 N.L.R.B. 1030 (1967), enforced, 401 F.2d 952 (D.C. Cir. 1968); Building Trades
Council, 163 N.L.R.B. 33 (1967), enforced, 388 F.2d 987 (9th Cir. 1968); NLRB v. Glass
Blowers Local 56, 280 F. Supp. 643 (D. Md. 1968). For a list of objects prohibited by section
8(b)(4)(B), see text accompanying note 14 supra.

98. Glaziers Local 513, 158 N.L.R.B. 1621 (1966).
99. Id.
100. Id.
101. Building Trades Council, 163 N.L.R.B. 33 (1967), enforced, 388 F.2d 987 (9th Cir.

1968); NLRB v. Glass Blowers Local 56, 280 F. Supp. 643 (D. Md. 1968); Glaziers Local 513,
158 N.L.R.B. 1621 (1966); Pipe Fitters Local 553, 154 N.L.R.B. 982 (1965).
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(5) The fact that there was never a struck product on the
secondary's premises was held to indicate an improper union ob-
ject. 12

(6) Product picketing at gates used only by employees of the
secondary employer has been used as evidence of an improper ob-
ject.'13

(7) Product picketing conducted at times that indicate it was
aimed at secondary employees suggests an improper object.' 4

(8) If the union is both picketing and handbilling, the message
on the handbills (for example, "Do Not Patronize Safeway") may
be used to prove an improper object.1' This is true even though the
handbilling itself was perfectly legal under the publicity proviso of
section 8(b)(4)."'6

(9) If a total boycott of the secondary employer was a predict-
able consequence of product picketing, that fact is indicative of an
improper union object.' 7 In other words, if the total boycott effect
was natural and foreseeable by the union, the fact finder may infer
a wrongful object."'"

Of course, any time a fact finder finds an improper object, he
is making an inference from the totality of the circumstances. The
above-listed items are only some of the factors which have per-
suaded fact finders in the past. In this area, the only limits are those
imposed by lawyers' imaginations.'"

102. Glaziers Local 513, 158 N.L.R.B. 1621 (1966).
103. Millmen Local 550, 153 N.L.R.B. 1285 (1965).
104. Building Trades Council, 163 N.L.R.B. 33, 34 (1967), enforced, 388 F.2d 987 (9th

Cir. 1968); NLRB v. Building Serv. Employees Local 254, 376 F.2d 131, 134 (1st Cir. 1967).
105. Typographical Union Local 37, 167 N.L.R.B. 1030 (1967), enforced, 401 F.2d 952

(D.C. Cir. 1968); Typographical Union Local 21, 188 N.L.R.B. 673 (1971); Typographical
Union Local 174, 181 N.L.R.B. 384 (1970).

106. The publicity proviso is discussed in the text accompanying notes 16-17 supra.
107. Steelworkers Local 14055, 211 N.L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. 1381, 1383 (1974);

Comment, Secondary Consumer Picketing-The Product Boycott, 19 Sw. L.J. 567, 582
(1965). This is a factor used by the Board but disapproved by the court of appeals in Steel-
workers Local 14055 v. NLRB, 524 F.2d 853 (D.C. Cir. 1975).

108. Steelworkers Local 14055, 211 N.L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. 1381, 1383 (1974);
Comment, Secondary Consumer Picketing-The Product Boycott, 19 Sw. L.J. 567, 582
(1965). This theory could be used to ease the already light burden of proving an improper
object.

109. One interesting case held that even though no business relationship existed be-
tween the primary and the secondary employers at the time product picketing occurred, the
Board could still find that an object of the product picketing was to force a cessation of
business between the primary and secondary. Building Trades Council, 163 N.L.R.B. 33
(1967), enforced, 388 F.2d 987 (9th Cir. 1968). Although the legal principle in that case seems
logically flawed, the rule is a good one. As the Board noted, one of the purposes of section
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III. THE Dow CASE: CURRENT JUDICIAL- ACTIVITY RELATED TO

PRODUCT PICKETING

Although cases decided since Tree Fruits have provided some
direction for determining the legality of product picketing in various
contexts, they have done so in a relative vacuum of guidance from
the Supreme Court. Steelworkers Local 14055 (Dow),"' mentioned
earlier,"' merits extended discussion because the case presents the
Supreme Court with the opportunity to clarify this confused area of
the law.

Controlling facts found by the ,NLRB in Dow frame the issues
in the case with hornbook clarity. The 'Steelworkers were on strike
at Dow Chemical's Bay refinery in Bay City, Michigan. The refinery
produced gasoline, and the Steelworkers placed pickets at six inde-
pendent"' gasoline service stations. The service stations derived
"their revenues largely from the sale".of.Bay gasoline."' The picket
signs read "Don't Buy Bay Gas" or'carried some similar legend."'
The central- issue in the case .is whether product picketing that
strictly follows the struck product, but which, in effect, constitutes
an appeal to consumers. to stop all, or nearly all, trade with the
secondary employer is a secondary boycott prohibited by section
8(b)(4)(B).

The NLRB, with two members dissenting, ruled that the prod-
uct picketing involved in the case constituted a secondary boycott."'

8(b)(4) is to protect neutrals; strict interpretations of the statute can subvert that purpose.
Id. at 35. The Board's approach recognizes that even in the absence of a business relationship,
the union has the power to harm the secondary employer. This approach effectuates the
policies behind the statute.

110. 211 N*L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. 1381 (1974), rev 'd, 524 F.2d 853 (D.C. Cir. 1975).
111. See text accompanying notes 86-90.supra.
112. The Board found that the stations were independent of Dow Chemical Company.

The court of appeals did not upset the finding, but did note that, in its opinion, the "economic
interdependence" between Dow Chemical and the stations weakened the force of the "eco-
nomic impact" test adopted by the Board. 524 F.2d at 856 n.4. The union apparently was
arguing that the stations and Dow Chemical were a "single employer." See text accompany-
ing notes 18-21 supra.

113. Sales of Bay gasoline constituted between 50 and 98 percent of all the stations'
total revenue; the average was 86 percent. The Board noted that "[elven though some of
the stations involved sell tires and provide repair service . . . most of their business is gasoline
sales and minor items incidental thereto." 211 N.L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. at 1383.

114. Both the Board, 211 N.L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. at 1381 n.3, and the court of
appeals, 524 F.2d at 855 n.2, expressly declined to decide whether the picket signs adequately
identified the struck product. Case law, however, indicates that the signs were inadequate.
See notes 49-55 supra and accompanying text.

115. Steelworkers Local 14055, 211 N.L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. 1381 (1974).
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The United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia,
however, denied enforcement of the Board's cease and desist order
and held that the product picketing involved did not violate section
8(b)(4)(ii)(B)."5 In its present posture, the case is ripe for Supreme
Court review.

A. The Board's Response

A three-member majority of the Board held that Tree Fruits did
not protect the product picketing in Dow and that by engaging in
that picketing the union has violated section 8(b)(4)(ii)(B). ' 7 The
Board noted that in Tree Fruits, the struck product (apples) repre-
sented only an insignificant fraction of the secondary employer's
total sales. In Dow, the gasoline accounted for almost all of the
service stations' sales."' This, the Board stated, was a factual dis-
tinction with legal significance." 9

According to the Board majority, it was the "minimal impact"
of the successful product picketing in Tree Fruits which led the
Supreme Court to hold that the picketingdid not" 'threaten, coerce
or restrain' the retailer within the meaning of section 8(b)(4)."'21

Citing American Bread,2' an integrated product case,'22 the major-
ity found that in Dow, as in American Bread, the product picketing
was "reasonably calculated to induce customers not to patronize the
neutral parties" (that is, the service station operators). 123 Next, the
majority inferred that the union had an improper object because the
"total boycott" impact upon the secondary employer was com-
pletely predictable by the union. 24

The majority of the Board reasoned that the potential impact
of the picketing (cutting off all trade with the secondary employer)
plus the union's improper object removed the case from Tree Fruits'
protection. 5 In concluding its analysis of the case, the Board re-
jected an interpretation of section 8(b)(4) which would assign "strict

116. Steelworkers Local 14055 v. NLRB, 524 F.2d 853 (D.C. Cir. 1975).
117. 211 N.L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. at 1384.
118. Id. at 1383.
119. Id.
120. Id.
121. Teamsters Local 327, 170 N.L.R.B. 91 (1968), enforced, 411 F.2d 147 (6th Cir.

1969).
122. See notes 77-81 supra and accompanying text.
123. 211 N.L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. at 1383.
124. Id.
125. Id.
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and precise" definitions to the terms of that statute.28 Congress, the
Board said, had never intended such an interpretation, and to hold
that the union's actions in Dow did not "threaten, coerce or re-
strain" the station owners would demonstrate a lack of fidelity of
the true intent of Congress." 7

The Board then issued a cease and desist order'28 from which
the union appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the
District of Columbia. 2 ' The Board cross-appealed for enforcement
of its order. 30

B. The Court of Appeals' Response

The court of appeals, in an opinion handed down December 15,
1975, reversed the ruling of the Board and denied enforcement of its
order. 3' Borrowing heavily from the opinion of the dissenting mem-
bers of the Board, 32 the court found that the Tree Fruits doctrine
controlled its disposition of the case 33 and held that the picketing
in Dow was lawful under the Tree Fruits decision.134

According to the circuit court, the Supreme Court had not in-
tended that the rationale in Tree Fruits be restricted to the facts in
that case. The circuit court concluded that the "governing princi-
ples" of that case should apply regardless of the impact upon the
secondary employer.' 35 The court recalled that its own "substantial
economic impact" theory had been rejected by the Supreme Court
in Tree Fruits.3 1 Its interpretation of the Supreme Court's opinion
in Tree Fruits, in turn, served as the basis for rejecting the Board's
"economic impact" theory.'37

The court of appeals emphasized that Tree Fruits had held that
product picketing "was not conduct of the kind which Congress

126. Id.
127. Id: at 1383-84.
128. Id. at 1384. Board members Fanning and Jenkins dissented. In their opinion, Tree

Fruits should have controlled the disposition of the case because the picketing closely followed
the struck product. Id. Their opinion closely parallels the opinion of the court of appeals.

129. Steelworkers Local 14055 v. NLRB, 524 F.2d 853 (D.C. Cir. 1975).
130. Id.
131. Id. at 861.
132. Id. at 856, 860.
133. Id. at 857.
134. Id. at 860.
135. Id. at 857.
136. Id. at 858. A reading of the court of appeals' decision leaves the reader with the

impression that the court might be somewhat "gun-shy."
137. Id.
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intended to prohibit" by section 8(b)(4). 3 The court of appeals then
interpreted this holding to mean that so long as the union used
product picketing to publicize its dispute with the primary em-
ployer, the possible loss to a secondary employer was irrelevant,
regardless of how extensive it might be.' 9 Thus, the court effectively
extended Tree Fruits protection to all peaceful product picketing so
long as the appeal to consumers followed the struck product and did
not extend beyond the struck product. 4 °

A second theory used by the Board was also rejected by the
court of appeals. The Board had inferred an improper union object
from the fact that a "total boycott" effect on the stations was pre-
dictable by the union.'' The court held that it was improper to use
predictability as a factor in determining the union's object. 42 On the
contrary, the court stated that "an unlawful object was not to be
imputed from the possible economic effect of picketing if [the pick-
eting] was peaceful and directed only to the struck product.'" This
interpretation would insulate a picketing union from being found in
violation of section 8(b)(4)(B) if the picketing conformed to the two
italicized requirements. 4

In reconciling its approach with that taken in the integrated
product cases,'45 the court of appeals seemed to differentiate those
cases on their facts. It found that because the struck product had
been merged into another product it was "simply not possible to
'follow the struck goods.' "'"

As a parting shot, the court noted that the Board opinion
"[gave] rise to, but [did] not pass upon a First Amendment [sic]
issue similar to that avoided by the Supreme Court, and now
avoided by this court in our interpretation of Tree Fruits.'""' The

138. Id. at 859.
139. Id. In its opinion, the court focused upon the one station out of six whose revenues

from sales of Bay gasoline constituted less than 80% of its gross revenues. The court indicated,
however, that the picketing was lawful at all six of the stations, "notwithstanding a high
percentage of their gross revenues are attributable to sales of the struck product." Id. at 859.

140. Id. at 860.
141. 211 N.L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. at 1383. See text accompanying notes 107-108

supra.
142. 524 F.2d at 860.
143. Id. (emphasis added).
144. This results from the fact that there is no violation of section 8(b)(4)(B) unless

both the means used by the union and the union's object are condemned by the statute. See
note 11 supra and accompanying text.

145. See notes 76-83 supra and accompanying text.
146. 524 F.2d at 860.
147. Id. at 861.
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court of appeals maintained that Congress had not intended to
make the legality of the exercise of an "arguable First Amendment
[sic] right" to engage in product picketing turn upon economic
impact. 4 '

It is clear that the Board and the court of appeals issued dia-
metrically opposite opinions in Dow. The Board concluded that if
the union's appeal predictably could have a "total boycott" effect,
the picketing would violate section 8(b)(4).111 The court of appeals
concluded that if the product picketing is peaceful and directed only
to the struck product, it is lawful, regardless of its effect."" These
lines are drawn distinctly, and the Supreme Court, if it grants cer-
tiorari, will be forced to finally decide the issue.

C. The Supreme Court Should Grant Certiorari and Reverse the
Judgment of the Court of Appeals

The Supreme Court has not spoken on the issue of product
picketing since its Tree Fruits decision in 1964. Because there is
substantial disagreement among the members of the NLRB, 5 and
between the NLRB and one federal court of appeals, '12 over the
proper interpretation of Tree Fruits and the implications of that
case, there is a need for the Supreme Court to speak to the issue
once more. The Dow case is the proper vehicle for the Supreme
Court to use to clarify its position on product picketing. The case
presents hard questions concerning public policy, statutory inter-
pretation, and constitutional law. By granting certiorari and issuing
an opinion, the Court could settle many of these questions.

Because the Supreme Court's opinion in Tree Fruits is subject
to varying interpretations, as illustrated by the opinions of the
NLRB and the court of appeals in Dow,' an examination of the
Tree Fruits opinion, by itself, does not resolve the problem posed
in Dow. Tree Fruits did not provide any concrete answers to the

148. Id.
149. 211 N.L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. at 1383.
150. 524 F.2d at 860.
151. 211 N.L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. 1381.
152. 524 F.2d 853.
153. The Board's position is supported by the following language from the Tree Fruits

opinion: "When consumer picketing is employed to persuade customers not to trade at all
with the secondary employer . . . [i]t creates a separate dispute with the secondary em-
ployer." 377 U.S. at 72.

The court of appeals' opinion is supported by several statements in Tree Fruits indicating
that product picketing which is employed only to persuade consumers to refrain from buying
the struck product is "closely confined to the primary dispute" and is lawful. Id.
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product picketing problems which arose after that decision."'4 For
this reason one must look elsewhere to resolve the issue raised by
Dow. A proper analysis of that issue should begin with section
8(b)(4)(B) itself.

1. Section 8(b)(4)(B) Examined

The legislative history of section 8(b)(4)(B) reveals that the
statute has two goals:

(a) preserving the union's right to pressure the primary employer
by cutting off his markets, and
(b) preserving the neutral secondary employer's right to avoid
economic injury and to stay neutral.' 55

As the statute has been applied, neither the employers' nor the
unions' right is absolute.'56 For both statutory purposes to be served,
a careful balance between the two conflicting interests must be
struck.' 57 Both the Board and the court of appeals recognized the
need to balance the interests in the Dow case.' 5

1

Although the court of appeals recognized the need to balance
those interests, it failed to meet this need by doing so.' 59 The gist of
the court of appeals' opinion is that peaceful picketing, if it is di-
rected at the struck product only, is per se lawful.'60 This per se rule
contravenes Congress' intent in passing section 8(b)(4)(B) just as
much as the NLRB's pre-Tree Fruits rule which held product pick-

154. See note 34 supra and accompanying text.
155. Woodwork Mfrs. Ass'n v. NLRB, 386 U.S. 612, 626-27 (1967); NLRB v. Building

Trades Council, 341 U.S. 675, 692 (1951). These two cases commented on section 8(b)(4)(A),
the statutory forerunner of section 8(b)(4)(B). See also Typographical Union Local 37 v.
NLRB, 401 F.2d 952 (D.C. Cir. 1968); Duerr, Developing a Standard for Secondary Consumer
Picketing, 26 LAB. L.J. 585 (1975).

156. See, e.g., the integrated product cases discussed in notes 76-83 supra and accompa-
nying text.

157. An excellent example of this balancing process can be seen in Judge Levanthal's
opinion in Typographical Union Local 37 v. NLRB, 401 F.2d 952 (D.C. Cir. 1968), enforcing
167 N.L.R.B. 1030. There, the balance was struck so as to provide protection for the secondary
employer whose entire business was being boycotted.

158. 211 N.L.R.B. No. 59, 86 L.R.R.M. at 1383; 524 F.2d at 859.
159. The court found that the balance had been struck against Dow Chemical by the

Supreme Court in Tree Fruits. 524 F.2d at 859.
160. See notes 143-144 supra and accompanying text. Of course, the court of appeals'

approach might lend additional certainty to product picketing law. Conceivably, it would
make the legality of product picketing easier to determine and predict. Along these lines, see
Duerr, Developing a Standard for Secondary Consumer Picketing, 26 LAB. L.J. 585, 593
(1975). It is submitted, however, that certainty should not be purchased at the high price of
stripping* neutrals of the protection Congress intended them to enjoy under the statute.
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eting per se violative of the statute."' The court's per se rule was
derived from an erroneous interpretation of the Tree Fruits opin-
ion. 1

62

The court's interpretation of Tree Fruits fails to recognize the
fact that if the union appeals for a total boycott, the neutral secon-
dary employer's need for the statute's protection becomes critical.
Without the statute's protection, the secondary employer is left
completely helpless against the union, and the union has the power
to destroy the neutral's business. This result was not intended by
Congress when it passed section 8(b)(4)(B). On the contrary, Con-
gress intended to protect these neutrals. Whenever a union appeals
for what would be, in effect, a total boycott of a secondary employer,
the balance should be struck in favor of protecting the neutral em-
ployer. This is the only interpretation which gives any effect to the
second purpose of the statute- preserving the neutral secondary
employer's right to avoid economic injury and stay neutral.

2. Relationship Between Tree Fruits and Dow

The foregoing discussion of section 8(b)(4)(B) is completely
consistent with the Tree Fruits decision. In that case, Justice Bren-
nan reviewed all of the relevant facts in the case-including the
slight impact of the picketing-and concluded that Congress did not
intend to prohibit the product picketing at issue there.1 1

3 The Tree
Fruits case may be viewed as establishing something like a pre-
sumption of legality of product picketing. That presumption should
be rebuttable upon a showing that product picketing conducted
under certain circumstances causes effects that are inconsistent
with Congress' intent in passing section 8(b)(4)(B). Cases decided
subsequent to Tree Fruits support this interpretation of the effect
of that decision.

3. Relationship Between Post-Tree Fruits Case Law and Dow

Since Tree Fruits was decided, the rule has developed that any
time a union appeals for what would amount to a total boycott of
the secondary employer, the union violates section 8(b)(4)(B).1 4

161. See note 24 supra.
162. For a different view, see Duerr, Developing a Standard for Secondary Consumer

Picketing, 26 LAB. L.J. 585 (1975).
163. 377 U.S. at 71.
164. See text accompanying notes 67-90 supra. Further, ample common law authority

exists for the proposition that an appeal for a total boycott of the secondary employer is
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The rule has its origins in the Tree Fruits majority opinion,'15 and
it strikes the proper balance between the dual purposes of section
8(b)(4) (B). Under this rule, there is no legal distinction between the
appeal of "Don't Trade Here" and the appeal of "Don't Buy X
Flour" made in front of a bakery. The latter appeal, although it is
directed only at the struck product, would be prohibited under the
integrated product rule.' 6 By the same token, there is no practical
difference between the general "Don't Trade Here" appeal and an
appeal of "Don't Buy X" when X is the only product sold at the
picketed establishment. Even though the latter appeal may strictly
follow the struck product, X, it has the effect of appealing for a total
boycott of the secondary employer. Under the case law subsequent
to Tree Fruits, such an appeal would be unlawful, and the picketing
in Dow, because it appeals for a total boycott, should be held unlaw-
ful.

A prohibition against appealing for a total boycott of a secon-
dary employer is neither unworkable not unpredictable. It is work-
able because the NLRB has the expertise to make a fact finding that
particular picketing effectively appeals for a total boycott of the
secondary employer. It is predictable because a union, being com-
posed of reasonable men, can easily predict the effect of its picket-
ing. Close questions should be resolved in favor of a secondary em-
ployer.'67

Neutral employers, such as the service station owners in Dow,
are entitled to protection under section 8(b)(4)(B). Congress in-
tended that they be protected when it passed the statute, and the
statute should be interpreted to effectuate Congress' intent. The
closer a union's appeal comes to being an appeal for a total boycott
of the secondary employer, the less the union should be protected
by Tree Fruits. In Dow the union's appeal clearly steps over the line
of permissible secondary activity as that line has been drawn in
cases decided since Tree Fruits. Accordingly, the judgment of the
court of appeals should be reversed and the Board's order rein-
stated.

unlawful. See, e.g., Goldfinger v. Feintuch, 276 N.Y. 281, 11 N.E.2d 910 (1937).
165. 377 U.S. at 72.
166. See notes 76-83 and accompanying text supra.
167. Section 8(b)(4)(B) seems to provide at least as much protection as the statement

in the text would indicate.
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4. Section 8(b)(4)(B), as Construed by the Board, Is Not
Unconstitutional

If the foregoing discussion of section 8(b)(4)(B) and the cases
construing it is correct, a first amendment question is raised on the
facts in Dow which was not present in Tree Fruits.' If that statute
was intended to prohibit product picketing which amounts to an
appeal not to trade at all with a secondary employer, then the stat-
ute compromises an arguable first amendment right; the right to
express ideas through picketing would be restricted. Accordingly, if
the Supreme Court decides Dow, it will be forced to pass on a
constitutional question which was neatly avoided by the court of
appeals.'69

First amendment problems pervade the area of the law con-
cerned with picketing.'70 There is no doubt that the dissemination
of information about a labor dispute is protected by the first amend-
ment.' 7 ' As a general rule, "peaceful picketing carried on in a loca-
tion open generally to the public, is, absent other factors involving
purpose or manner of picketing, protected by the first amend-
ment."'

The protection afforded picketing by the first amendment,
however, is not absolute. The Supreme Court has held that because
picketing has both speech (communicative) and nonspeech (patrol-
ling) aspects, it is subject to reasonable governmental restraints and
regulations.'73 Furthermore, that court has held that even the com-
municative aspects of picketing can be regulated to effect a valid
governmental policy.'74

Congress' purpose in enacting section 8(b)(4)(B) was to protect
neutral employers and to insulate them from involvement in labor

168. The majority recognized the possibility of a first amendment question existing in
Tree Fruits, but did not pass on the issue. See 377 U.S. at 69. Justice Black, concurring, and
Justices Harlan and Stewart, dissenting, did reach the constitutional question. Id. at 76, 93.

169. See 524 F.2d at 860-61.
170. See, e.g., Food Employees Local 590 v. Logan Valley Plaza, Inc., 391 U.S. 308

(1968); Teamsters Local 695 v. Vogt, Inc., 354 U.S. 284 (1957); Thornhill v. Alabama, 310
U.S. 88 (1940).

171. Thornhill v. Alabama, 310 U.S. 88 (1940).
172. Food Employees Local 590 v. Logan Valley Plaza, Inc., 391 U.S. 308, 313 (1968).
173. Building Serv. Employees Local 262 v. Gazzam, 339 U.S. 532 (1950); Bakery Driv-

ers Local 802 v. Wohl, 315 U.S. 769 (1942).
174. Most recently, the principle that the first amendment "right" to picket is qualified

by the government's power to effectuate public policy was reaffirmed in American Radio
Ass'n v. Mobile S.S. Ass'n, 419 U.S. 215 (1974), citing, Teamsters Local 695 v. Vogt, Inc.,
354 U.S. 284 (1957).
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disputes of others."' This purpose is sufficient to support govern-
ment regulation of picketing, and the effect of such regulation has
not been found so great as to render the statute unconstitutional. 7

1

V. CONCLUSION

Any discussion of product picketing must be tied to and recon-
ciled with the 1964 Supreme Court decision in Tree Fruits. The rule
of law in Tree Fruits, however, was, to a large extent, interwoven
with the facts in that case. 177 This being so, the case provided little
guidance for deciding the hard cases which were to follow it.17

The case law subsequent to Tree Fruits has supplied some
guidelines for determining the legality of product picketing, but
those cases have by no means resolved all of the issues present in
this area of the law. This fact is clearly illustrated by the conflicting
theories found in the decisions rendered by the NLRB and the Dis-
trict of Columbia Circuit Court of Appeals in Dow. With the recent
decision of the court of appeals in Dow, the Supreme Court has been
presented with the opportunity to clarify the law pertaining to prod-
uct picketing.

If the Supreme Court grants certiorari in Dow, it will be able
to give full effect to the purposes of section 8(b)(4)(B) by discarding
any easy, per se rules regarding product picketing cases. Only by
recognizing that each product picketing case should be examined
in light of the goals of the statute and the realities of the modern
industrial environment can courts give effect to Congress' intent in
enacting section 8(b)(4)(B).

Stephen E. Ulrich

175. See notes 155-158 supra and accompanying text.
176. Teamsters Local 309 v. Hanke, 339 U.S. 470 (1950).
177. Even the specific holding in Tree Fruits indicates that the rule of law in that case

was qualified by the facts therein.
We come then to the question whether the picketing in this case . . . falls within
the area of secondary consumer picketing which Congress did clearly indicate its
intention to prohibit under § 8(b)(4)(ii). We hold that it did not fall within that
area, and therefore did not "threaten, coerce, or restrain" Safeway.

377 U.S. at 71 (emphasis added).
178. See note 34 supra and accompanying text.
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